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      For Russell Savage and Bill Drower

      ‘God was ridiculed. Civilisation was buried and the dignity of mankind trampled. Everywhere tears flowed. Everywhere blood
         splattered. And everywhere terror reigned.’
      

     PAN SHOU, writing about the Japanese occupation in the Nanyang Journal, Singapore, 1984
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      The Malay Peninsula and Singapore Island

   
      
      
Part One 


      The Countdown
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CHAPTER 1


      
      Blood on the Sun

      
      THERE WAS NO BREEZE. The swaying punkahs of Raffles Hotel had stopped moving. The north-east monsoon had come to an end, and under a pewter sky the stifling heat
         shimmered on the baked tarmac of Beach Road and danced all the way down to the dead calm sea. All that day European men, women
         and children who had been too stubborn, too disbelieving or too unlucky to evacuate the stricken colony had filed into the
         hotel, where their names were taken down in a register at the behest of Hirohito’s triumphant army.1

      
      The hotel’s ballroom had been converted into a hospital ward for the wounded; the card tables – where, usually, bridge was
         practically compulsory – were covered with surgical dressings. All trappings of colonial life had disappeared in a matter
         of hours: even the bar, home of the Singapore sling, was shut. All stocks of liquor had been destroyed on government orders
         (although one British officer, thinking it sacrilegious to waste Napoleon brandy, had made off with several bottles). Somebody
         had also removed the sign on the hotel’s clock tower. It had been a vainglorious touch anyway. It read, ‘They can’t stop our
         clock’.2

      
      The final edition of the Straits Times, a single sheet dated 14 February 1942, admitted that the previous day – Black Friday, 13 February – ‘was probably Singapore’s
         worst day since fighting began’, but it still carried the slogan beneath its masthead: ‘“Singapore Must Stand; It SHALL Stand” – His Excellency the Governor’. The slogan was still there in the Sunday Times on 15 February, above a report claiming that Allied troops ‘are disputing every attempt by the Japanese to advance further
         towards the heart of Singapore town’.
      

      
      Such bravado was typical of Sir Shenton Thomas, a cocky, rotund, red-faced former schoolmaster, who had refused to countenance
         the idea that British rule in Singapore might actually be over. To make his point, Thomas had taken over the implacably hostile
         Straits Times, which had advocated that Prime Minister Winston Churchill’s emissary Duff Cooper be appointed Dictator of Singapore for the
         duration of the crisis.
      

      
      Gambler though he was, Duff Cooper had no stomach for this particular fight. He had left Singapore with his glamorous film-star
         wife Lady Diana Cooper on 13 January 1942, soon after General Sir Archibald Wavell had been appointed Supreme Commander of
         ABDACOM, the cumbersome new combined American, British, Dutch and Australian Command. Despite pleas from Wavell for him to
         remain, Duff Cooper had insisted that his powers had come to an end, and departed with what he describes as ‘an uncomfortable
         feeling that I was running away’.3

      
      Had he stayed on as Military Governor, a tremendous amount could have been accomplished during the desperate days of January
         to prepare the island for the final assault and then, once the blow had fallen, to rally the troops and the population into
         mounting a fierce, last-ditch resistance. As things were, it had been left to Shenton Thomas, with his ailing wife Daisy at
         his side, to hold the fort. To keep up appearances, the Governor refused to leave Government House and insisted that male
         guests should wear a collar and tie at lunch and dinner, even though bombs were blowing huge divots in his pristine lawns and the servants were being cut down by shrapnel.
      

      
      Only a few days before the end he told The Times correspondent Ian Morrison that he was confident Singapore could withstand a long siege; there was enough food, water and
         medical supplies, and plenty of soldiers. These were stirring times, he said, and Singapore had an opportunity to write an
         epic in imperial history. It could, he thought, become another Malta, another Tobruk; there was no place on earth he would
         rather be.4

      
      On the night of 8 February, Japanese forces had swarmed across the inky black ribbon of water separating mainland Malaya from
         Singapore Island and, finding gaps between the little fortified clusters among the mangrove swamps, rivers and inlets on the
         north-west coast, had fallen upon the Australian defenders of the 22nd Brigade AIF. The moon had not yet risen; the darkness
         was broken only by muzzle flash, flare light and the incandescence of a burning barge.
      

      
      In that world of shadow and firelight, the Japanese had succeeded in enveloping the sorely isolated defenders, many of them
         raw teenaged recruits who had never fired a rifle before, and then breaking through the hastily reformed defensive line time
         after time to claim their prize. The conquest of Malaya and Singapore had taken just 70 days.
      

      
      In the grand ballroom at Raffles Hotel, scene of great revelry where huge overhead electric fans dispensed cooling air to
         the celebrants as they danced to the Dan Hopkins Orchestra and sang ‘There’ll Always Be an England’, the wounded could do
         nothing but pray for deliverance. Other Europeans gathered in the Palm Court and tried to come to terms with the disaster
         that had befallen them, talking in hushed tones in the unnatural silence. More than the Governor’s bomb-damaged palace, in
         its great 100-acre park overlooking the colonial district, and more than the High Command post at Fort Canning, Raffles Hotel was the defining symbol
         of British rule in Asia. The shining white neo-Renaissance building, with its line of coconut palms along Beach Road, its
         motor garage, its capacious bar and billiard room, its luxurious suites and its famous clientele, represented the white man’s
         superiority over the humble Asian.
      

      
      Perhaps unwittingly, a photographer had captured precisely this image in a photograph of the hotel’s imposing façade which
         had been used as a Christmas card in 1938. Progressing along Beach Road in front of the hotel, a tiny Oriental is seen hauling
         a huge, canopied rickshaw containing a large passenger and an even larger trunk. Few Europeans in the East at that time thought
         it odd that human beings were used as beasts of burden. Indeed, one Singapore club displayed a sign outside its doors saying,
         ‘No dogs or Chinese’. Joseph Conrad had warned of the inevitable outcome of such an attitude, describing the East as the place
         ‘where a stealthy Nemesis lies in wait, pursues, overtakes so many of the conquering race, who are proud of their wisdom,
         of their knowledge, of their strength’.5

      
      The privileged position occupied by the British – ever since Raffles had stepped ashore ‘to secure to the British flag the
         maritime superiority of the Eastern Seas’ – owed everything to their country’s predominance as a naval power. But Shenton
         Thomas and his almost exclusively white staff in the Colonial Service and the Malayan Civil Service knew that their position
         was accepted by the multiracial population only for as long as they could offer the protection of Britain’s armed forces,
         most notably from the marauding Japanese armies whose restless quest for new territories had become the focal point of Asian
         realpolitik in the preceding decade.
      

      
      But Britain’s only fleet was fully occupied fighting the Germans and the Italians in Europe, and the concept of a two-hemisphere
         Empire defended by a one-hemisphere Navy, which had sounded feasible to Admiralty strategists strolling around the duck pond
         in St James’s Park, was beginning to look like a very lame duck indeed. Singapore was an impregnable fortress, they said,
         adopting the same tone of voice that had declared the Titanic ‘unsinkable’.
      

      
      It was at Raffles Hotel that Martha Gellhorn, Ernest Hemingway’s wife and a correspondent for Collier’s magazine, had ruffled colonial feathers during a visit to Singapore to examine the state of British defences against a possible
         Japanese attack. Gellhorn threw a party at Raffles, where she scandalised polite society (and outraged the powers-that-be
         in Government House and Fort Canning) by saying ‘Balls!’ to a highly placed civil servant who informed her that the colony
         would never be invaded.6

      
      Ladies did not utter words like ‘balls’ in 1941 – but that was only the first of her heresies. Gellhorn concluded from her
         investigations that Singapore was virtually defenceless, while believing itself to be unassailable. She marvelled at the tea
         dances in the Raffles ballroom and at the way everyone told her that all was well despite evidence to the contrary. Her article
         in Collier’s magazine bristled with indignation about the snobberies of British colonial life, but it also sounded a sober warning about
         the colony’s lack of preparedness. Like everything else that offended Singapore society, it went unheeded.7

      
      General Wavell, who had taken over as Commander-in-Chief India, shared Gellhorn’s views as far as the public’s attitude was
         concerned. He visited Singapore a few months later and noted, ‘My impressions were that the whole atmosphere in Singapore
         was completely unwarlike, that they did not expect a Japanese attack and were very far from being keyed up to a war pitch.’8

      
      The reason for this insouciance was the vast Singapore Naval Base, which had been built at Sembawang on the north-east corner
         of the island after years of debate in Whitehall. The base had finally been opened in 1938, a £60 million insurance policy
         for Britain’s eastern colonies and dominions from Hong Kong and Malaya to Australia and New Zealand. The batteries of Changi
         Fire Command on the east coast and the Faber Fire Command overlooking Keppel Harbour could sink any ship afloat, while squadrons
         of bombers, hidden in faraway airfields carved out of the steaming Malayan jungles, testified to the British Government’s
         determination to defend its Far Eastern bastion.
      

      
      The Times had published a special supplement to mark the opening of the Naval Base by Sir Shenton Thomas on 14 February 1938.9 Resplendent in his vice-regal uniform, he had chugged into the 1,000-foot-long King George VI graving dock in the 800-ton
         steam-driven yacht Sea Belle II after cutting a ceremonial ribbon stretched across the entrance. The Naval Base also boasted a floating dock which had been
         towed all the way from England at vast expense. It was said that 60,000 men could stand on the bottom of this seaworthy wonder
         (although there seemed no good reason for them to do so). Yet despite the fanfare, the Naval Base was still not operational;
         work would continue for a further four years on its forts and workshops, its storerooms and generating plant, its radio station,
         its township, swimming pool and 17 football fields.
      

      
      Even then it would lack many basic facilities which had been pruned from the blueprint by Winston Churchill as Chancellor
         of the Exchequer in Baldwin’s Government from 1924 to 1929. The former First Lord of the Admiralty had reasoned that as the distance between Singapore and Tokyo was the same as that from Southampton to New York – some 3,000 miles
         – the chances of the Japanese mounting a surprise attack against the base were negligible and, in the event of a hostile move
         in Singapore’s direction, there would be ample time to make good any deficiencies.10

      
      The one thing Singapore Naval Base lacked from the very beginning was a British battle fleet. No Eastern Fleet had been available
         at the time it was opened, nor would one be available in the future under the financial strictures of the age. Indeed, the
         most impressive naval force at the opening ceremony had been a squadron of three American cruisers, which happened to be passing
         on a goodwill visit.
      

      
      The central plank of the Singapore Strategy, which had brought the base into existence after Admiral Lord Jellicoe had nominated
         the island the key strategic point in the Far East in 1919, had been embodied in the reassuring phrase ‘Main Fleet to Singapore’.
         This required the British Navy to steam through the Suez Canal and cross the Indian Ocean if Singapore ever came under attack.
         In the meantime, the Royal Air Force would protect the Naval Base, while the Army’s job was to protect the airfields.
      

      
      It was a cockeyed strategy, and by the time the Japanese launched their assault in the Pacific in December 1941, the ‘Main
         Fleet to Singapore’ concept had been quietly jettisoned. Unfortunately, the Air Force had fallen woefully short of the minimum
         strength of first-line aircraft required to halt an invasion, while the Army was so undermanned it could not even protect
         the airfields. Churchill’s strategic priorities at that time had been to defeat Rommel in the Western Desert and to sustain
         Stalin’s forces against the German Panzers, rather than to defend Britain’s possessions in South East Asia; the token naval
         force he had committed to the East – the modern battleship Prince of Wales, the old battle-cruiser Repulse and four antiquated destroyers – was unbalanced without an aircraft carrier or any air cover, and had lasted less than two
         hours in combat against Japan’s twin-engine naval bombers in the South China Sea.
      

      
      After that catastrophe, the Naval Base had been a useless impediment, a white elephant. There were now no Royal Navy ships
         there at all and, following the loss of the vast supplies of Malayan rubber and tin which were shipped from Keppel Harbour,
         the entire raison d’etre for the defence of Singapore Island had evaporated like raindrops in the equatorial heat.
      

      
      The Naval Base had been quietly abandoned in the last days of January 1942. Rear Admiral Ernest J. ‘Jackie’ Spooner, the Naval
         Commander-in-Chief, ordered the entire European naval and civilian dockyard staff to quit the base and fall back on Singapore
         City, from where they were shipped off to Ceylon. The Official Historian General Stanley Woodburn Kirby, author of The War Against Japan, admits, ‘The hurried evacuation of the Base left an unfortunate impression in the minds of many soldiers who did not know
         that the Admiral, although perhaps precipitately, was acting under instruc-tions.’11

      
      Most incomprehensible of all was that Churchill, despite warnings from his Chiefs of Staff, had not realised that Singapore
         was as good as lost until, on 19 January, he received a cable from General Wavell spelling out the parlous state of the island’s
         defences. Churchill was suddenly confronted with, in his words, ‘the hideous spectacle of the almost naked island and of the
         wearied, if not exhausted, troops retreating upon it’.12 ‘I warn you,’ he told the Chiefs of Staff, ‘this will be one of the greatest scandals that could possibly be exposed.’13

      
      By a curious coincidence, the souvenir issue of The Times of 3 March 1938 had named the officer who would be set up as the principal scapegoat for the disaster at Singapore when it
         recorded the appointment of Colonel A. E. Percival, DSO, OBE, MC, hero of the Great War and one of the most brilliant staff
         officers of his generation, as Brigadier on the General Staff, Aldershot. Percival, who had watched the creation of the Naval
         Base as Chief of Staff to the General Officer Commanding Malaya in 1936–38, had been sent back to Singapore in May 1941 as
         GOC and as such shouldered the primary responsibility for defending the base.
      

      
      On Boxing Day, as his army retreated down the Malay Peninsula, Percival had been challenged about the lack of fixed defences
         in Johore, where the decisive battle for Malaya would be fought, and on the north shore of Singapore Island, which would become
         a killing ground should the Japanese prove victorious in that battle. Percival’s Chief Engineer, Brigadier Ivan Simson, called
         on his commanding officer and sought permission to undertake the work but was told, in 10 words that would become Singapore’s
         epitaph, ‘Defences are bad for morale – for both troops and civilians.’14

      
      It was an extraordinary answer and it would seem hardly credible that Percival could have given it, had he not repeated the
         same words to Wavell the following month, after they had made a tour of the north shore just before the axe fell. The Supreme
         Commander insisted that the work should be carried out but he failed to get his point across with sufficient vigour to galvanise
         Percival into action.
      

      
      Lieutenant James A. Richardson had spent his working life as a geologist in the Malayan rainforests and mountains and, after
         volunteering for military service, had ended up in the Intelligence Corps on Singapore Island. He says, ‘The gravity of the
         situation could not be ignored. Wally [Pollock] and I made a survey of the northern part of the island a week before the Japs crossed the Straits. There was virtually nothing defensive. One or two of Singapore Fortress’s 15-inch guns
         were eventually swivelled round to fire north, not south, and salvoes of armour-piercing shells were fired into Johore Bahru.
         I doubt that they did much to influence the inevitable débâcle.’15

      
      At the height of the Blitz, Churchill had declared, ‘The sound of the cannon gives me a tremendous feeling,’ but he would
         not have enjoyed the reduction of Singapore. Len Butler, a 15-year-old sailor who had survived the sinking of the Empress of Asia, was working at Singapore General Hospital. ‘We’d been out in an ambulance picking up the wounded and we had seen that the
         city was being bombed to pieces,’ he says. ‘Japanese planes were coming over in lots of 27 and the front plane would fire
         his machine guns and the whole lot would release their bombs and devastate an area of a square mile. Singapore was a densely
         populated city and the death rate was incredible. People weren’t being killed only by shrapnel. Shards of glass and splinters
         of wood were going through them; bits of concrete and tiles from roofs were flying around. All manner of things kill people
         when a bomb falls.’16

      
      Unlike little Malta which had defied the German blitz for 20 months, Singapore had no rocky ramparts and its highest hill,
         Bukit Timah, was a mere 600 feet above sea level. The million people who had crowded into Singapore City on the southern shores
         of the island, many of them terrified refugees driven out of the mainland, had almost no protection. Proper bomb shelters
         had not been constructed because Shenton Thomas shared Percival’s belief that morale would be damaged by overt signs of war.
         The public had to make do with sandbagged trenches and filthy drains.
      

      
      The death toll was rising almost hourly, but rigid military censorship suppressed the truth in the local media. For the preceding two weeks, army censors had even enforced a ban on the
         word ‘siege’. ‘Siege’, newsmen were told, was ‘bad for morale’.
      

      
      The forces at General Percival’s disposal for the defence of Singapore Island amounted to 85,000 men. In reality, his army
         was far smaller than that – and not all that effective. At least 15,000 were baseline non-combatants and medical staff; many
         thousands of others, harried from the air and cut off by the Japanese, had lost their rifles during the retreat down the peninsula.
         Many were raw recruits who had spilled on to the docks just in time to take part in the drama’s tragic last act. Thousands
         more lay wounded or sick in hospital.
      

      
      The Japanese commander of the 25th Imperial Japanese Army, General Tomoyuki Yamashita, a tough and uncompromising martinet,
         had three crack Japanese divisions – the 5th, the 18th and the Imperial Guards – many of them, like himself, veterans of the
         war in China and all of them cock-a-hoop after a succession of victories on the Malay peninsula. It was a formidable striking
         force of 30,000 troops, backed by a further 35,000 troops and impressed labourers manning supply lines down the Malay peninsula,
         but Percival, owing to faulty intelligence estimates, thought he faced an immediate threat from at least five divisions totalling
         100,000 troops. This misjudgement was crucial because it had coloured the placement of his forces to face the Japanese assault
         on Singapore Island. He spread them thinly all around the island’s perimeter to meet every eventuality, instead of concentrating
         a large force at two inland switchlines – strong points – to counterattack once the Japanese had shown their hand. Yamashita
         also had an overwhelming advantage in that his infantry were supported by an armoured force of around 200 tanks and a similar
         number of warplanes. Percival had no tanks, few anti-tank guns and just one squadron of fighters, which would shortly depart for Sumatra.
      

      
      Nevertheless, when General Wavell arrived for his last visit to Singapore on 10 February, he instructed Percival to hold the
         island at all costs, following an order from Winston Churchill that there should be no surrender. ‘There must at this stage
         be no thought of saving the troops or sparing the population,’ Churchill cabled. ‘The battle must be fought to the bitter
         end at all costs. Commanders and senior officers should die with their troops. The honour of the British Empire and of the
         British Army is at stake.’
      

      
      That same day Lieutenant Richardson visited the Battle Box, Malaya Command’s air-conditioned, bomb-proof concrete bunker sunk
         deep into the hill behind Fort Canning. He scribbled a note in his diary: ‘Order of the Day from General Wavell: “It would
         be a disgrace if our large Forces were finally defeated by a much smaller Nip force. We must therefore fight to the very last
         etc. etc….” No good! The end of this show was fore-ordained even before it started.’
      

      
      In the evening, Wavell visited Sir Shenton and Lady Thomas at Government House. ‘He sat in our living room,’ Thomas noted
         in his diary, ‘thumping his knees with his fists and saying, “It shouldn’t have happened,” over and over again.’ Lady Thomas,
         who was ill with dysentery, declined Wavell’s offer to accompany him to Java, and he left shortly after midnight.17

      
      Stanley Prout, a marine engineer from Devon who had fought with the Royal Navy in World War I, had joined the Local Defence
         Force. He was digging trenches outside the Convent of the Holy Infant Jesus in Victoria Street. His two daughters, Olga and
         Maisie, were boarders at the convent but had been evacuated to the mainland after the Japanese bombed the island. ‘He went into the convent to see if we had reappeared,’ his daughter Maisie Duncan says. ‘The Mother Superior
         told him that we were still up-country and that we were cut off. They both knew Singapore was doomed. Mother Superior gave
         him a cup of tea and a biscuit, and said, “I have no idea when we will see them again but I promise you I will do my best
         to look after them after Singapore falls.” Dad said he would try to escape to Australia.’18

      
      One of the refugees sheltering in the convent was a former pupil, Terpie Pattara, 19-year-old daughter of a wealthy Greek
         merchant who had named his five daughters after Greek goddesses. While her mother and three of her sisters had been evacuated
         in one of the last ships to leave the colony, Terpie – short for Terpsichore, the muse of dance – had stayed behind in Singapore
         in the hope of marrying her fiancé, a Polish schoolteacher. ‘Our house had been bombed and we had lost everything,’ she says.
         ‘My mother and three of my sisters had set sail on Friday 13 February hoping to reach Australia. My youngest sister and I
         were in the chapel praying, “Do not bomb us,” and there were bombs falling all around us.’
      

      
      By now, Governor Thomas had accepted the fact that his bailiwick was in serious trouble and had moved from Government House
         to the Singapore Club in Fullerton Building. Realising the end was near, he ordered a total prohibition on all liquor throughout
         the island, to prevent a recurrence of the atrocities perpetrated by drink – and drug-crazed Japanese troops in Nanking and
         Hong Kong. Thousands of bottles of the finest spirits, wines and liqueurs and thousands of gallons of beer and sake were smashed or their contents poured down drains.19 At the Tanglin Club and the Singapore Cricket Club, members drank as much as they could and then set about destroying the
         remainder.
      

      
      On Sunday 15 February, Lance-Bombardier Alan Toze, of Virginia Water, Surrey, was drinking a bottle of beer on the balcony
         of the Supreme Court Building overlooking the Padang, the sports ground with the hallowed Australian turf of the Singapore
         Cricket Club at one end, the tennis courts and bowling greens of the Singapore Recreation Club at the other. ‘Fort Canning
         lay between us and the enemy, the Union Jack hanging from the yard of its tall flagstaff obscured by the smoke of battle,’
         Toze wrote in his diary. ‘[Shells] would come our side of the fortress hill so frequently that after a while I ceased to duck
         and cover my ears but watched to see where the dust and debris spouted up. There were fires everywhere; the Senoko Dump on
         the north of the island formed a huge grimy cloudbank and dozens of others masked the sky until it was impossible to distinguish
         between smoke and clouds.
      

      
      ‘Our guns in their “backs to the wall” position along the seafront roadside roared and leaped as they sent their shells at
         an incredible rate – the air trembled with the almost constant whistling rush of steel just skimming the roof. At intervals
         there was a rush to cover as high-level bombers drummed through the smoke pall to unload around us, starting even more fires,
         holding quite steadily in their formation through a hail of AA fire of all calibres. Dive-bombers crackled their way over
         the rooftops, spraying indiscriminately with tracer bullets. A few bullets spattered on to the wide balcony just as I legged
         it behind a column and a ricochet whanged against the bronze scales in the hand of Justice in the bas-relief panel over my
         head.’20

      
      Retiring to a comfortable leather chair in Courtroom No. 3, Toze, a battery surveyor with the 122nd Field Regiment, Royal
         Artillery, drank his beer while listening to the ‘hellish echoes rolling in from the doomed city’. He picked up the Bible and read a few pages of Revelation. Then, suddenly, at 8.30 p.m., the guns stopped firing, and silence descended.
      

      
      While Singapore adjusted to this eerie sensation after weeks of incessant noise, the Bishop of Singapore, the Right Reverend
         Leonard Wilson, held a service in St Andrew’s Cathedral. In common with the Singapore Club, the Cricket Club, Raffles Hotel,
         the Goodwood Park Hotel, the General Post Office and many other places, this great Gothic building provided shelter for both
         civilian and military wounded. The pews had been removed and the nave was packed with bodies, some on camp-beds but most on
         blankets on the brown flagstones. Overhead electric fans fought a losing battle against the heat and the stench of suppurating
         wounds. Several hundred civilians, mostly Asians, had crowded into the choir stalls for the service. While an army major played
         the organ, Bishop Wilson led the singing of the first hymn, ‘Praise, my soul, the King of heaven’.
      

      
      Three blocks away Brother Vincent, a 23-year-old Canadian, had evacuated a group of students from Bukit Timah village to St
         Joseph’s Institution. The three-storey school-house, bounded by Bras Basah Road and Queen Street, was also crowded with wounded
         soldiers. Shelling and bombing had continued practically non-stop for the last four days. ‘We couldn’t sleep, we had no appetite,’
         Brother Vincent says. ‘There was nothing we could do except to hope it would come to an end. Everyone welcomed the decision
         to end the war, rather than fight to the last soldier and still have to surrender.’
      

      
      Singapore, the Gibraltar of the Orient and cornerstone of an empire upon which the sun never set, had gone down in a blaze
         of ignominy when General Percival capitulated to the Imperial Japanese Army at 6.10 p.m. on 15 February 1942, Chinese New
         Year’s Day. It was an irreparable blow to British prestige. Churchill, who had succeeded in converting the evacuation of Dunkirk into a British victory of sorts, could do nothing
         except admit that the fall of Singapore had been a massive defeat. After the war, he described it as ‘the worst disaster and
         largest capitulation in British military history’.
      

      
      Photographs of the surrender party arriving at the Ford Motor Factory in Bukit Timah (‘Hill of Tin’) had been disseminated
         around the world by the Japanese propagandists of the Denai News Agency. Major Cyril Wild, who was carrying the white flag,
         flung it into a ditch in disgust when he saw the cameras and realised their purpose. Japanese newsmen then photographed the
         corpulent figure of the victorious General Yamashita as he faced a tense, reed-thin Arthur Percival across the conference
         table in the factory’s canteen. In one photograph, the British commanding officer stands beside the table supporting himself
         on his extended arms, fists clenched. He is white-faced, drawn and exhausted; it is the portrait of a broken reed.
      

      
      Back in Singapore City, rumours abounded. Gradually, word got around that it was all over. ‘There were soldiers in the streets,
         soldiers in the park, soldiers all over the place,’ says Brother Vincent.21 ‘They didn’t know where to go or what to do. I saw a soldier shooting at the engine of a jeep. [They were] destroying their
         cars, destroying their weapons.’
      

      
      Major Tony Ferrier, then a 22-year-old company commander with the 5th Battalion, Royal Norfolk Regiment, recalls, ‘All around
         I could see the oil tanks burning and great palls of smoke. The whole island seemed to be in complete desolation and I could
         hear firing going on all around. When I got back to my company, I had to tell my platoon commanders the bad news. I had had
         very little sleep for a fortnight, but for the past three days I had had virtually only catnaps because I had been in action
         continuously, and I felt extremely emotional that we had to lay down our arms and surrender. It was a very emotional moment and I was almost in tears
         at the very thought of it. But those were the orders and they had to be obeyed.’
      

      
      Russell Savage, a gunner with the 2/10th Field Regiment, AIF, says, ‘I couldn’t believe we were surrendering. We were still
         a good fighting unit, so why had the fighting stopped? Rumours were coming in that troopships were arriving with reinforcements
         and that Hurricanes had been landed in crates and were being assembled. We didn’t know there was no chance of assembling anything.’22

      
      Len Butler knew that further resistance was pointless. ‘We couldn’t have carried on,’ he says. ‘We had no water, no food.
         When people say 30,000 Japanese beat 60,000 British troops – they did. The Government in the UK abandoned us. Their main priority
         was the desert and keeping the oil and the Suez Canal. The Naval Base wasn’t worth much and they had Trincomalee in Ceylon
         and Bombay in India, and Durban and Simonstown in Africa. They didn’t need Singapore.’
      

      
      The British defeat shocked Elizabeth Choy, a 31-year-old Chinese teacher at St Andrew’s School who had been nursing the wounded.
         ‘We were so dumbfounded we didn’t know what to do,’ she says. ‘But we felt very, very sorry for the Britishers. A lot of them
         were our friends and our church people and our colleagues in teaching. Everybody was stunned.’23

      
      There was one notable absentee: Major-General Gordon Bennett, the fiery, ginger-haired Australian commander, had disappeared.
         Shortly after the guns had fallen silent on Sunday, Bennett and two staff officers, Major Charles Moses and Lieutenant Gordon
         Walker, had slipped away in the General’s motor car from Tanglin Barracks, the 8th Division’s headquarters a few miles to
         the east of the colonial district. Bennett had been planning his escape ever since the Allied forces had retreated to Singapore Island and blown up the Causeway
         on 31 January. ‘They won’t get me,’ he had vowed.
      

      
      Inside Tanglin Barracks, Major John Wyett, a member of Bennett’s staff, realised that his commanding officer had indeed run
         away. He went to the General’s quarters to make sure nothing sensitive had been left behind. The first thing Wyett found was
         a cache of rare whisky, bottled in Scotland especially for Bennett’s friend the Sultan of Johore. He smashed the bottles –
         but not before pouring himself a couple of stengahs.24 In his autobiography, Bennett makes a great fuss about how he had burned his papers before departing so as to leave nothing
         of use to the enemy,25 but Wyett found photographs of Bennett and the Sultan’s much younger Romanian wife, Marcella, some of which he described
         as compromising; they were in an envelope marked ‘Not for Australia’. Heedless of his erstwhile friend’s safety (or the Sultana’s
         reputation), Bennett had carelessly left them behind for the Japanese to find. Wyett made the photographs into a pile and
         set fire to them.
      

      
      Accepting the blame was a rarity for anyone who actually bore any responsibility for the Singapore catastrophe but Leslie
         Froggatt, an English marine engineer, felt very bad indeed. He put his feelings into words that resonate down the years: ‘I
         betrayed my Malay gardener. He cut my hedges, watered my flowers, cut and rolled my tennis lawn, and brushed up the leaves
         that blew down from the trees. I betrayed my round fat amah, who liked me, and amused me with her funny ways. I betrayed my
         Hokkien cook, who had a wife and four lovely children, whom he kept beautifully dressed at all times on the money he earned
         from me.
      

      
      ‘I betrayed “Old Faithful”, our No. 2 Boy, who knew no word of English or Malay and padded round the house silently in bare feet, always working cheerfully. I betrayed the caddie who carried my bag, searched for my ball, and always
         backed my game with a sporting bet. I betrayed all the helpless little babies with their almond eyes and soft black shining
         heads. From the college student to the Tamil coolie who swept the street, I betrayed them all.’26

      
      The unanswered question was: how had it happened?

   
      
      
CHAPTER 2


      
      Good Times

      
      IN THE 1930s WHEN the Sultans, the rubber planters and the tin-mining magnates were making fortunes again after the Great Slump, Malaya was
         referred to locally as the Land of Tidapathy. It was a word coined from the Malay phrase t’ida apa, meaning ‘it doesn’t matter’. In those languid days before the outbreak of World War II, the expatriate community needed some
         stoical peg on which to hang the indolence engendered by extremes of heat and thirst. ‘Tidapathy’ fitted the bill nicely;
         it was the Spanish mañana with an Oriental twist.1

      
      All that changed in September 1939 when Britain declared war on Germany after Hitler had torn up Chamberlain’s ‘piece of paper’
         and sent the Wehrmacht storming into Poland. Suddenly, Malaya mattered a great deal to a desperate Britain and a rearming
         America; suddenly, there was a chance for the Land of Tidapathy to help the Mother Country’s war effort and, at the same time,
         make a tidy profit.
      

      
      Mainland Malaya had more than three million acres under cultivation to Hevea brasiliensis, the Brazilian rubber tree, while half the world’s tin was gouged out of the great mines halfway down the mountainous spine
         of the 400-mile-long peninsula. In an endless procession, railway wagons shuttled along the antiquated single-line railway
         from the Kinta Valley to Singapore Island, where they dumped their cargoes into the holds of tramp steamers lining the docks at Keppel Harbour, on the southern edge of Singapore City.
      

      
      The only proviso that the British made in the wartime boom was that nothing should be done to make the natives restless. It
         was decided that the best way of maintaining the status quo was for the European population – a mere 31,000 people, scattered
         from the Thai border to the southern shores of Singapore – to carry on as normal. Any rumblings of nationalism or discontent
         among the 5.5 million Chinese, Indians, Malays and Tamils could then be quickly detected and quietly stilled.
      

      
      No one advocated this policy more assiduously than Sir Shenton Thomas. He was attending evensong at St Andrew’s Cathedral
         when the BBC broadcast news of the outbreak of the war in Europe on Sunday 3 September 1939. It did not unduly concern him.
         As the Straits Times editorial put it the following day, ‘At this distance from the scene of battle, with our defences perfected and Japanese
         participation in the struggle on the side of Germany an extremely remote possibility, Malaya has little to fear.’2

      
      The Colonial Office ordered Shenton Thomas to keep the dollars flowing into Britain’s overextended Treasury, and he was happy
         to oblige. In a broadcast on 5 September, he urged British men to stay at their posts in Malaya and not return home to enlist
         in the armed forces. The economy prospered as never before. ‘This is not a temporary boom,’ one Australian businessman reported
         to his government. ‘Singapore seems to have emerged from being merely a progressive city and is now the hub of the Orient.’3

      
      The novelist J. G. Farrell described Britain’s hold on the colony as the ‘the Singapore Grip’ – ‘the grip of our Western culture
         and economy on the Far East’4. No one was holding on more tightly than Shenton Thomas. He had turned 60 in 1939 and should have retired, but he had been asked to stay on – even though he was considered in some quarters to be ‘too
         old and out-of-date’.5 In January 1940, he wrote to the Colonial Office, ‘I conceive it to be our duty to give absolute priority to the claims of
         industry.’ And he had succeeded: Malaya’s dollar earnings had jumped from $98 million in the first year of the war to $135
         million in 1940–41. Malaya, in the words of the Governor, had become the ‘dollar arsenal of the Empire’.
      

      
      Shenton Thomas had arrived in Singapore in November 1934 to replace Sir Cecil Clementi. The eldest son of a Cambridgeshire
         vicar of Welsh descent, he had been born on 10 October 1879 and christened Thomas Shenton Whitelegge Thomas. With four brothers
         and one sister, he was raised in a Georgian rectory straight out of Trollope: there was croquet on the lawn and servants to
         do the menial chores – but very little money for anything except the essentials of life.
      

      
      After studying at St John’s, Leatherhead, where he excelled at cricket, young Shenton won a scholarship to Queens’ College,
         Cambridge, where he read classics. He then completed a seven-year stint as a schoolmaster in a Yorkshire prep school, before
         deciding in 1909 to seek fresh pastures in the Colonial Service. Having taken a year off to travel the world, he joined the
         Colonial Service and progressed up the Secretariat ladder in Kenya, Uganda, Nigeria and the Gold Coast, until in 1929 he was
         appointed Governor of Nyasaland (Malawi). In 1932, he returned to the Gold Coast as Governor and two years later was offered
         the prestigious post of Governor of the Straits Settlements, the four territories that jointly constituted a single crown
         colony.
      

      
      Arriving in Penang with his wife Daisy on the P&O liner SS Ranpura, Thomas was greeted by a 17-gun salute from a Royal Navy warship, while the ship’s company lined the decks and a reception committee of military and civilian dignitaries waited on the quayside. The Governor spent only a few hours
         in Britain’s oldest possession in Malaya before crossing the channel to Prai in Province Wellesley and boarding the night
         mail express to Singapore.
      

      
      Singapore, an integral part of the Crown Colony since 1867, was tucked into the toe of the Malay peninsula, just 85 miles
         above the equator. The island measured 25 miles by 15 miles, and was linked to Malaya by a causeway across the Straits of
         Johore. To the south, the Straits of Malacca separated it from Sumatra, Java and the multitude of other islands that formed
         the Dutch East Indies (later Indonesia).
      

      
      The founding of modern Singapore had come about after Thomas Stamford Raffles, Lieutenant-Governor of Bencoolen, Sumatra,
         realised that unless Britain broke Holland’s monopoly of the spice trade she would become a second-rate power in the East
         Indies. In 1818, Raffles petitioned the Governor-General of India, Lord Hastings, to authorise a fortified British trading
         post at the southern tip of the Malay peninsula which would go some way towards correcting that imbalance. It would also provide
         a secure stopping point for traders taking the shortest sea route between India and China.
      

      
      With Hastings’s blessing, Raffles set off from Bencoolen to find a suitable anchorage. He examined a group of islands to the
         west of Singapore but found them unsuitable. Sailing eastwards, he reached Singapore Island and realised he had stumbled on
         the perfect location. On 29 January 1819 Raffles stepped ashore on the northern bank of the Singapore River accompanied by
         Colonel William Farquhar, former Resident of Malacca and a fluent Malay speaker. The two colonial administrators discovered
         that Singapura – ‘lion gate’ in Sanskrit – was little more than a village, its tiny population scattered among swampland and tiger-infested jungle. But the island lay on the main trade route between India and China, and
         had an excellent deepwater harbour and plentiful supplies of drinking water and timber. It had not been occupied by the Dutch
         and was ruled by a Malay chief or Temeng-gong, Abdul Rahman. ‘Singapore is everything we desire,’ Raffles later wrote; ‘it
         will soon rise in importance.’
      

      
      On 30 January Farquhar spoke to Abdul Rahman and discovered that he was willing to help Raffles set up a trading post for
         the East India Company. A provisional treaty was signed that day. The Dutch, however, protested at Raffles’s incursion into
         ‘their’ territory and declared the agreement illegal. Indeed, Singapore belonged to Abdul Rahman’s overlord, the Sultan of
         Johore, who was backed by the Dutch. But Raffles learned that when the old Sultan had died, his elder son and heir, Tunku
         (Prince) Hussein, had been away in Pahang getting married, and his younger half-brother, Tunku Abdul Rahman, had claimed the
         throne with the support of the Bugis chiefs from Celebes and the Dutch.
      

      
      With very little authority but a great deal of bravado, Raffles held a ceremony at the Padang on Singapore Island on 6 February
         1819 to recognise Tunku Hussein as the rightful Sultan of Johore. His Highness the Sultan Hussein Mohammed Shah and the Temenggong
         then signed a new treaty allowing Raffles to build a British settlement on Singapore in return for pensions of $5,000 and
         $3,000 a year respectively. The British flag was hoisted on a flagpole and gunshots rang out, a simple ceremony marking the
         founding of modern Singapore. Raffles wrote to his employer, ‘You may take my word for it, this is by far the most important
         station in the East; and, as far as naval superiority and commercial interests are concerned, of much higher value than whole
         continents of territory.’6

      
      The territorial dispute with the Dutch was finally resolved with the signing of the Treaty of London five years later, in
         March 1824. According to the treaty, the British acquired Malacca, Penang and Singapore, while the Dutch were given undisputed
         control of Java and Sumatra. Then in August 1824 a Treaty of Friendship and Alliance was signed with the Sultan and the Temenggong,
         which handed over governance of the island to the British. As a free port at the foot of the Straits of Malacca, Singapore’s
         rise was meteoric. With a steady flow of Malays, Chinese and Indians seeking work with European merchants, by the time the
         first census was held in 1824 the population had reached 10,683, including 3,317 Chinese, 756 Indians, 4,580 Malays and 74
         Europeans. By 1911, it was 311,303.
      

      
      After the East India Company was abolished in 1858, Singapore was placed under the direct control of the new Government of
         India, which knew nothing about its character or special problems. This arrangement led to protests at Westminster, and in
         1867 responsibility for administering all British holdings in Malaya was transferred to the Colonial Office. Two forts, Fort
         Canning and Fort Fullerton, had been built on Singapore Island to protect the citizens from attack by Malay pirates and other
         insurgents (and to protect the administrators from its own citizens should the need arise). The harbour was named after Sir
         Henry Keppel (1809–1904), the British admiral who had fought against piracy in the 1840s.
      

      
      Singapore was invariably compared with the Isle of Wight because of its similar diamond shape, but there were other similarities
         which Shenton Thomas would have found pleasing. With its landscaped gardens, pillared terraces and elegant staterooms, Government
         House compared favourably with Osborne House, Queen Victoria’s grand Italian villa overlooking the Solent, while the Singapore Yacht Club in Trafalgar Street at Tanjong Pagar was pure Cowes.
      

      
      Raffles had returned to his duties at Bencoolen in 1819, leaving Major Farquhar as Singapore’s first Resident to clear the
         jungle and start work on building the town. Three years later Raffles was back in the new colony and, after surveying the
         work already completed, drew up a detailed plan for its development.7 ‘Our object is not territory but trade,’ he wrote to a friend, ‘a great commercial emporium, and a fulcrum, whence we may extend our influence politically as circumstances may hereafter require.’
      

      
      Raffles stamped a British colonial character on Singapore City by levelling one of the hills south of the Singapore River
         to form a new commercial district, Raffles Place. He then subdivided the city into kampongs, or villages, according to race, with the area west of the river’s mouth being given to Chinese immigrants as far inland as
         Cantonment Road. To the east, Kampong Glam between Rochor River and the sea was reserved for the homes and businesses of Arab
         and Malay merchants, while Indians predominated in Kampong Kapor and Serangoon Road. Europeans, meanwhile, congregated mainly
         to the north-east of the colonial district or in the spacious western garden suburbs.
      

      
      As Singapore took shape, there were many reminders of the Mother Country. Here was Parliament House, where the Legislative
         Council deliberated, and there the Victoria Memorial Theatre, where the works of the Bard were celebrated. Raffles himself,
         cast in bronze, stood on a plinth in Empress Place. Nearby, the Singapore River was spanned by an iron bridge that had been
         cast in Glasgow and shipped to the East piece by piece. The British jurist Sir Roland Braddell described the colony in his
         1935 book The Lights of Singapore as ‘so very George V … if you are English, you get the impression of a kind of tropical cross between Manchester and Liverpool’. In Raffles Place and its main artery Battery Road,
         shoppers made a beeline for Kelly & Walsh’s bookshop or the General Post Office in Fullerton Building, the neo-classical monstrosity
         built on the site of the old Fort Fullerton, or Maynard’s the chemists, or Robinson’s, the big new air-conditioned department
         store, or Whiteaway Laidlaw.
      

      
      The north bank became the setting for Parliament House, the Museum and the Library at the base of Fort Canning Hill, home
         of the British Army. The city green was the historic Padang, where Europeans played cricket, tennis and bowls. The new Supreme
         Court and the Municipal Building were sited on its eastern flank, adjacent to St Andrew’s Cathedral. A block away on Beach
         Road the four enterprising Sarkies brothers had opened Raffles Hotel in 1887. Joseph Conrad and Rudyard Kipling were among
         the early guests; Charlie Chaplin, Noël Coward and Maurice Chevalier had signed the visitors’ book and promised to return,
         while Somerset Maugham composed some of his work under the frangipani trees.
      

      
      Maugham was now, however, persona non grata. When Captain Bill Drower asked for a copy of one of his books at the Singapore Library, he was tartly informed that Maugham
         was not considered suitable reading for Singaporeans. ‘Willie’ Maugham had committed the gross solecism of including dialogue
         from various socialites and planters.
      

      
      One of the regular couples on the Raffles dance floor were Richard and Dorothy Lowery. Singapore offered unrivalled opportunities
         for young British professional men like Lowery, who had arrived in 1938 to take up a position with the Singapore Harbour Trust.
         Born in Newcastle upon Tyne in January 1910 and educated at Heaton Technical School, Rutherford Technical College and Durham
         University, he had trained as a naval architect with a Tyneside shipbuilder before being appointed assistant general manager of the Singapore
         Harbour Trust – the colony’s biggest employer, who operated the wharves, five graving docks and a floating dock.
      

      
      Dorothy, a tailor’s daughter, excelled at Scottish and English traditional dancing and her stunning, home-made ballgowns became
         one of the features of the Raffles smart set. ‘Dancing was how they met and dated,’ their son Peter Lowery says. ‘They loved
         Raffles and dancing – they were quite good and won several competitions.’
      

      
      One of the city’s most successful merchants was Zacharia Pattara. He and his wife Anthoula had come to Singapore from Athens
         as a newly married couple during World War I. After travelling widely in the East and learning several languages, Zacharia
         had opened a store in High Street adjacent to Parliament House. ‘He sold clothes, hats and shoes and also his own brands of
         coffee called Camel and Volcano,’ Terpie Pattara says. ‘The Sultan of Johore used to come in every Friday to buy some Volcano
         coffee.’
      

      
      Zacharia and his wife were naturalised, so that both they and all their five daughters were British subjects. The first two
         girls were twins and were named Ino (goddess of the sea) and Clio (muse of history) after characters in Greek mythology. Thetis
         (mother of Achilles), Terpsichore (muse of dance) and Thalia (muse of comedy) followed until the Pattaras’ big house in St
         Michael’s Road, a pleasant residential street at Serangoon, was filled with girlish chatter and music. Two of the girls learned
         the piano and several took up painting and dancing. Zacharia was a good provider and he doted on his five little Greek goddesses.
         All of them were enrolled at the Victoria Street convent. ‘We travelled to and from school with Father each day in a chauffeur-driven
         car,’ Terpie recalls. ‘We were dropped off at school and then Father would go to his shop and in the evening we would collect him.’
      

      
      Terpie grew into a beautiful young woman, with the same dark curly hair and soulful brown eyes as her four sisters. When she
         was 18 she fell in love with Wencelaus Bernard ‘Benny’ Szynkiewicz, a Polish teacher who taught languages and maths at a small
         private school. His father, a general in the Polish Army, had been killed by the Russians during the dismemberment of Poland
         in 1940. Despite the tragic news from Europe, the young couple became engaged and started to plan a life together.
      

      
      A couple of miles south of the Pattaras’ house, the five Bruce children lived in their grandmother’s sprawling, split-level
         house in Glasgow Road, Payah Lebar. Two flame-of-the-forest trees stood either side of the wrought-iron gates, and a long
         driveway led past rows of orchids to a turning circle in front of the house, with a garage and separate chauffeur’s quarters
         on one side. Coconut palms swayed at the back.
      

      
      Barbara Glanville (née Bruce) says, ‘There were four brothers – Syd, Mel, Bryan and Errol. I came in the middle and I must
         admit I was thoroughly spoiled.’ Her father, Herbert Ernest Bruce, had joined the Royal Marines as a boy soldier in his native
         Scotland and served as a bugler in Ireland during the Troubles. After joining the Colonial Service in Singapore, he met Gwendolyn
         Anchant, whose father had been a professor of mathematics at the Sorbonne. ‘Her name was Gwendolyn but everyone called her
         Gwyneth,’ Barbara says. ‘The Anchants were an old French family and my mother was chaperoned everywhere she went. My grandmother
         came from Ceylon and was very strict. Her family, the Labroys, owned and trained racehorses in Singapore, Kuala Lumpur and
         Ipoh. My parents had one of those old-fashioned courtships – Granny used to sit in the front seat of the car and keep her eye on the mirror while they sat in the back.’
      

      
      Herbert Bruce had risen to become Chief Inspector of Vehicles and was responsible for issuing licences for every type of conveyance
         from yellow cabs to rickshaws. ‘We used to get a taxi to take us to school and home again,’ his son Mel remembers. ‘Grandpa
         had died but we were a big family, with three live-in servants. On Saturdays Hassan, the chauffeur, would drive us to the
         Cathay cinema for the 11 a.m. show with our amah Sai Mui to look after us, then take us to Raffles Hotel for tiffin with our
         parents.’ Once a year, the Bruce children were driven across the Causeway to the Sultan of Johore’s Moorish-style palace at
         Johore Bahru, where a huge marquee had been set up in the gardens to entertain the children of the Colonial Secretariat.
      

      
      The boys attended St Andrew’s School in Stamford Road, where one of their teachers was Elizabeth Choy, a graceful and talented
         young woman who had been born Yong Su-Moi into a Chinese Lutheran family in Sabah, British North Borneo. At the Anglican mission
         school at Sandakan, Chinese pupils were invited to select a Western first name. Su-Moi chose Elizabeth. She had come to Singapore
         in 1929 aged 19 and been educated at the Convent of the Holy Infant Jesus, where she gained her Senior Cambridge Certificate.
         Elizabeth loved children and in her holidays made clothes for orphans at the convent and helped handicapped children. In August
         1941, she married a Straits-born Chinese businessman, Choy Khun Heng. ‘She was a fantastic person,’ says Mel Bruce, ‘and we
         were all pleased when we heard she had got married.’
      

      
      No one was happier with his lot than Stanley Prout, who had been appointed senior marine engineer of the Straits Steamship
         Company, a subsidiary of the Blue Funnel Line. Since 1890 its sturdy little ships, mostly christened after Malay place-names such as Kelantan, Klang and Kedah, had operated
         a coastal service out of Singapore. The pride of the fleet was the Kedah, a 2,000-ton, twin-screw turbine vessel which travelled at an average speed of 18 knots, sailing from Singapore at 11.30 a.m.
         every Thursday and arriving at Georgetown, Penang, at 8.30 a.m. the next day.8

      
      Stanley Prout’s appointment entailed moving his young family from Georgetown to Singapore. Prout had met a local Penang girl,
         Alice Vaz, when her father, Captain Peter Vaz, invited him to his home. A man of robust Portuguese ancestry from Goa, Captain
         Vaz had settled in Penang in 1876 after marrying a Eurasian girl. The couple had 12 children, seven of them daughters, and
         Vaz was in the habit of inviting eligible ship’s officers and engineers to meet them, with a view to possible courtship and
         marriage.
      

      
      One of the high points of such evenings was Alice’s singing to her sister May’s piano accompaniment. Says Alice’s daughter
         Olga Page, ‘My father fell in love with her voice and then he fell in love with her.’9 Stanley Prout made sure he received further invitations to the Vaz household in Arratoon Road, and soon realised he had found
         the woman he wanted to marry. He was devastated to learn that she was already engaged to another man, a Welsh civil servant
         who was also her singing instructor. Stanley, however, pressed his suit until Alice, a sailor’s daughter, returned the Welshman’s
         ring and went off with a sailor of her own.
      

      
      Stanley hailed from Tedburn St Mary, a cluster of stone cottages deep in the Devon countryside north-west of Exeter. Though
         Stanley was a Freemason, he and Alice were married in a Catholic church in Penang by a French priest, Father Adrian Devals.
         The Prouts had three children: a son, John, born in 1925, and two daughters, Olga (1928) and Maisie (1931). All were baptised by Father Devals in the Catholic faith. Stanley told his daughter Maisie, ‘Whenever he came aboard
         my ship, we’d spend the evenings after dinner in my cabin sipping brandy and smoking cigars. We’d touch on every topic under
         the sun – except religion!’
      

      
      In Singapore, the family moved into a house close to the beach at Katang. The girls were enrolled at the Victoria Street convent
         and the boy at nearby St Joseph’s. Life seemed idyllic in those balmy pre-war days: money was plentiful, there were servants
         to do the cooking and housework, and the house rang with the sound of children’s laughter and Alice’s singing. There were
         ice-cream treats at the Polar Café on North Bridge Road and the family monopolised the local Roxy Cinema to such an extent
         that the manager would reserve a box for them whether they showed up or not.
      

      
      There was one serious threat to the Prout family’s happiness, however: Alice suffered badly from asthma. Although Stanley
         took her to England to consult Harley Street specialists, nothing could be done to cure her. After one severe attack in 1938
         Alice was taken to hospital, where she contracted pneumonia and died.
      

      
      As a widower, the most difficult time for Stanley Prout was when he was away at sea. Olga, who was 10 at the time, says, ‘My
         father used to do the weekly run up to Penang and back, so we were looked after by our servants. We got a bit wild. We used
         to be picked up from school in our Hillman car. We would get in the car and climb through the sunroof and make a lot of noise.
         We did this until two of the nuns saw us and ordered us to get back inside the car. The Mother Superior, the Reverend Mother
         St James, sent for my Dad and said, “If you want your children to grow up as ladies and gentlemen, you had better make them
         boarders.” That was in 1939. We became boarders. Our amah was a very loyal Chinese and every Saturday she would come and see us in the convent and bring us an orange and a bar of chocolate each.’
      

      
      Helmut Newton, the German photographer, pitched up in Singapore in 1938 after escaping from Nazi Germany. He was 19 years
         old, Jewish, and grateful to have been accepted into ‘a little bit of England at the tip of the Malay peninsula. It was like
         winning the lottery,’ he wrote in his autobiography.10 Newton was put on the society beat of the Straits Times, pukka mouthpiece of the ruling class. Let loose among the colony’s flower-hatted dowagers at Government House tea parties,
         he created something of a legend by failing to produce a single publishable photograph. After two weeks, he was sacked.
      

      
      As someone in the basement of Singapore society, the penniless photographer was in a good position to study the way Britain
         treated her subject peoples. He concluded that Chinese and Tamil coolies were ‘worse off than slaves’. For a $1-a-day pittance,
         they loaded and unloaded the ships on the wharves in blistering heat all day and were then penned up for the night in airless
         godowns, where they cooked their rice and slept on mats.
      

      
      Newton was overpowered by Singapore’s smell, an aroma of spices mixed with bad sanitation, drying fish and belacan, the fermented shrimp paste that is an essential ingredient of Malay cooking. ‘There are smells so violently esoteric that
         they must exhale from the corruption of what is very rich and fecund,’ wrote the novelist H. M. Tomlinson. ‘A newcomer has
         a suspicion that he has wandered off the beaten track; he has slipped into another dimension.’11

      
      The new dimension was a place of infinite wonder. Street stalls in the heaving markets sold live snakes, turtles, bird’s nests,
         shark fins and monkey soup, while the click-click-click of mah-jong tiles emanated from the gaudily painted shophouses. For all ailments, there were foul-smelling potions brewed from bark, leaves and entrails, or the East’s most celebrated
         cure-all, the ubiquitous Tiger Balm. The Cold Storage at the end of Orchard Road provided for every culinary need: fresh meat,
         oysters and strawberries from Sydney, pheasants and apples from England, butter from New Zealand, turnips from Sumatra, potatoes
         and oranges from Palestine, tomatoes from Java, and Edam cheese and chocolates from Holland, while bread and rolls were freshly
         baked on the premises.
      

      
      Alcohol was duty-free and cheap: $1 would buy a whisky and a bottle of beer. Fifty cents purchased 10 dances with one of the
         beautiful Chinese taxi girls in the great dragon-walled barn of the Great World amusement centre. The curious Westerner could
         wander about in complete safety, watching Chinese plays in the noisy, tinny theatres, or gaping at the ronggeng dancers, or thrilling to the exploits of the jugglers and the high-wire acrobats.
      

      
      Sir Shenton Thomas presided over Singapore’s administrative life from his office at Government House, a white stone building
         constructed on a low hill by convict labour from India in 1869. For an annual salary of £5,500 (plus liberal expenses), Thomas
         was Governor and Commanderin-Chief of the Crown Colony, consisting of Penang and the adjacent Province Wellesley, Singapore
         Island, Christmas Island and the Cocos and Keeling Islands in the Indian Ocean, plus Malacca Settlement and Labuan Island
         off the coast of north-west Borneo, 700 miles from Singapore.
      

      
      He was also High Commissioner of the four Federated Malay States of Perak, Selangor, Negri Sembilan and Pahang, with their
         federal capital at Kuala Lumpur, and the five Unfederated Malay States of Johore, Trengganu, Kedah, Kelantan and Perlis. The
         10th state was that of the oil-rich Sultan of Brunei on the north-west coast of Borneo. Finally, Shenton Thomas was Agent for British North Borneo and Sarawak,
         two vast areas covering more than 80,000 square miles with a total population exceeding half a million.
      

      
      Thomas had been hand-picked by the Colonial Office to take over these daunting responsibilities following the recall of his
         predecessor, Sir Cecil Clementi, a dyed-in-the-wool imperialist. Clementi had ignored the leaders of the Chinese community
         on important issues and had ridden roughshod over public opinion. Thomas, an extrovert who thought he got along with people
         well, was the complete opposite. He knew the drill from his 24 years in Africa and worked hard to heal the breach between
         the Chinese community and the King’s representative – at least during office hours.
      

      
      Government House was soon ringing to the sounds of state dinner parties which, in the words of one aide-de-camp, were ‘always
         lavish’. Guests, including visiting dignitaries and a sprinkling of Bright Young Things, would assemble for cocktails in the
         ground-floor reception room, falling silent when Shenton Thomas and Lady Thomas descended the grand staircase. Dinner was
         served by Indian bearers in long scarlet-and-gold tunics who, observing strict protocol, always served the Governor first.
         No one thought it unusual that there were few Chinese or Indian guests, and that the Malay contingent was confined to the
         Sultans. Even under Shenton Thomas, the indigenous people were rarely entertained at Government House.
      

      
      Leslie Froggatt, a marine engineer and naval architect with Straits Steamship, saw more of Thomas than many of his countrymen.
         He considered the Governor ‘a very mild sort of person – [he] could make witty speeches and we had a certain affection for
         him’.12 To his underlings in the Malayan Civil Service, he was ‘Tom-Tom’, a clever pun on his name (Thomas Thomas) and the fact that he had spent much of his life within hearing distance of African drums. Indeed, he liked
         to say that the only type of warfare he understood was the tribal kind.
      

      
      Thomas’s most pressing concern in 1940 was to keep the dollars rolling in. He made it clear to the military that, in his view,
         the presence of large numbers of troops was more likely to attract hostilities than to repel them. He was dismissive of concerns
         that the Japanese might invade, stating, ‘Who but a fool thinks Japan wants Singapore!’13

      
      Despite the Governor’s concerns that Singapore was becoming an armed camp, defence forces were actually thin on the ground.
         The garrison responsible for protecting Singapore and the whole of the Malay peninsula, as well as Penang, Sarawak and Borneo,
         consisted of just nine infantry battalions totalling 10,000 troops. These included the 2nd Gordon Highlanders, 2nd Loyal North
         Lancashires, 1st Manchesters (later turned into a machine-gun battalion), 2/17th Dogras and 1st Malays. The RAF, the glamorous
         new service whose aircraft had revolutionised warfare, was also poorly represented. It could put 90 ‘first-line aircraft’
         into the air, but these included two squadrons of obsolescent, fabric-covered Vildebeeste biplanes known as ‘the Flying Coffins’.
         There were no fighters.
      

      
      Japan’s withdrawal from the League of Nations in April 1933 had prompted the British Cabinet to step up its plans to improve
         the defence of the Naval Base, which was still in the process of construction. The only RAF airfield on Singapore Island at
         the time was at Seletar, and the only airfields on the mainland were at Alor Star and Port Swettenham on the west-coast air
         route from Calcutta to Singapore. Work began on a new airfield at Kluang in the centre of Johore, which showed a curious bias
         in favour of creature comforts. One officer noted, ‘No one seemed quite clear as to why part of the $6 million construction cost hadn’t been diverted to providing
         all-weather concrete strips on the ‘drome runways but plenty had been spent on the officers’ mess.’14

      
      Additional airfields also took shape on Singapore Island at Tengah and Sembawang, and at Kota Bahru, Gong Kedah, Machang and
         Kuantan on Malaya’s east coast, which had hitherto been left undeveloped to present an invading enemy with an ‘impassable’
         jungle barrier.15 All of the new Malayan airfields were vulnerable to attack by a force landing on the sandy beaches dotted along the east
         coast, yet the Air Force had insisted on these sites – despite objections from the Army whose job was to protect them. The
         RAF’s argument was that the airfields at Gong Kedah and Machang were needed to give its aircraft extra range for reconnaissance
         over Indochina. The War Office announced that the Army had insufficient manpower to guard them and suggested that the Air
         Force would have to do it themselves. This was the origin of a serious rift between the two services.
      

      
      Since World War I, British policy for the defence of Singapore and her Eastern dominions had been based on the ‘Main Fleet
         to Singapore’ strategy under which the Royal Navy’s fleet would sail from home waters if Singapore was threatened and arrive
         there in a maximum of 70 days. It was assumed that the enemy would mount a seaborne attack on the colony’s southern shores,
         rather than land troops on the east-coast beaches and then tackle the supposedly impregnable jungle.
      

      
      This theory was challenged by General Officer Commanding Malaya, Major-General (Sir) William Dobbie, who set up an exercise
         to land troops on the east coast during the north-east monsoon of 1936–37. Dobbie proved not only that it was possible to
         make a successful landing at that time of the year, but that the heavy cloud cover actually protected the invading forces from air reconnaissance and attack. Dobbie
         wrote to the War Office, ‘It is an attack from the northward that I regard as the greatest potential danger to the fortress.
         Such attack could be carried out during the period of the north-east monsoon. The jungle is not in most places impassable
         by infantry.’16

      
      Dobbie never doubted for a moment that Britain’s potential enemy was Japan. There were only 3,000 Japanese in Malaya but their
         effectiveness in intelligence-gathering and fifth-column activities was out of all proportion to their numbers. Dobbie learned
         that Japanese espionage was channelled through the Japanese Consulate-General in Singapore, while Japanese companies such
         as the Nissan group furthered the country’s political objectives through the Japanese Chamber of Commerce and the Japanese
         Commercial Museum.
      

      
      Japanese fishermen charted rivers and coastlines; mamasans in Japanese-run brothels passed on gossip from clients; Japanese photographers snapped military installations and personnel
         (the official photographer at Singapore Naval Base was later identified as Colonel Nakajima of Japanese Intelligence); Japanese
         journalists at the Eastern News Agency and the English-language Singapore Herald collated files of anti-British data; even the humble Japanese barber, bowing and hissing, was likely to have an intelligence
         role. Leslie Froggatt noted that the Japanese dealt ‘mostly in teeth and photographs, haircuts and sukiyaki’ but their main export to the home islands was information. Every useful nugget was passed to Japan’s military planners and
         added to the overall strategic picture of Malaya and Singapore.
      

      
      General Dobbie was determined to end this blatant abuse of British hospitality and was instrumental in having Lieutenant-Colonel Francis Hayley Bell, an old China hand with expert knowledge of the East, appointed as MI5’s Defence Security
         Officer in Singapore in 1936.17 Hayley Bell recruited a small team from the British Army and set about tracking down enemy agents. One of his men was a Gordon
         Highlander, Captain Ivan Lyon, whose tenacious character was shown in the large tiger tattooed on his chest. Ivan, born in
         August 1915 and educated at Harrow, Churchill’s old school, was the son of Brigadier General Francis Lyon of the Royal Field
         Artillery. His family was a collateral branch of the Strathmores, one of Scotland’s most illustrious dynasties, and shared
         a common Strathmore ancestor with King George VI’s consort, Queen Elizabeth, the former Lady Elizabeth Bowes-Lyon, in David
         Lyon of Baky and Cossins.18

      
      Bell’s counter-espionage team penetrated the Japanese spy ring and learned that in the event of war the Japanese would land
         an invasion force in Thailand and northern Malaya and move rapidly south down the coastal plain. This was an unpopular view
         with the Governor, who clung to the belief that the monsoon and the impenetrable jungle would rule out any such eventuality.
         But the man on the spot, John Dalley, head of the police force in the eastern Malay state of Trengganu, had informed Ivan
         Lyon that these natural defences could easily be surmounted by a determined foe such as the Japanese, and had the revolutionary
         idea of recruiting Chinese – mainly Communists – as jungle fighters to be pitted against them in the event of war.
      

      
      Hayley Bell’s activities had elicited strong protests from Shenton Thomas and the British Minister in Bangkok, Sir Josiah
         ‘Bing’ Crosby, but his next act demonstrated just how vulnerable Singapore was to an enemy attack. At his direction, Ivan
         Lyon and a small force posing as saboteurs staged a mock commando raid on the colony’s vital installations. The commandos simulated an attack on the Naval Base which would have disabled both the graving dock and the floating dock.
         They ‘set fire’ to the RAF’s fuel dump, ‘sank’ a fleet of flying boats moored off RAF Headquarters, ‘destroyed’ the switchboard
         at the civil telephone exchange and ‘bombed’ the main power station, all without being detected. The operation caused outrage
         at Government House and Fort Canning, and complaints were made to the War Office, culminating in the termination of Hayley
         Bell’s services just at a time when they were most needed.
      

      
      Ivan Lyon, meanwhile, had fallen in love with a beautiful French girl, Gabrielle Bouvier, the 19-year-old blue-eyed daughter
         of the governor of the prison island Poulo Condore. Lyon contrived to meet her by sailing his yacht Vinette to the prison and paying a call on her father, Commandant Georges Bouvier. At first Gabrielle was wary of Ivan’s intentions
         – and there was also the question of his huge tiger tattoo. ‘My mother loathed it,’ says their son Clive Lyon. But over the
         next few months the ardent young suitor gradually overcame Gabrielle’s resistance; they were married in Saigon on 27 July
         1939.19

      
      General Dobbie, whose military background was in engineering, decided – with the enthusiastic support of his Chief of Staff,
         Colonel Arthur Percival – to build a line of fixed defences across southern Johore that would make it impossible for an invading
         army to range their artillery against the Naval Base. He also planned to construct a network of fixed defences on the north
         coast of Singapore Island to protect the immediate approaches to the base across the Straits of Johore. But if the army commander
         expected the Governor’s support for these measures, he was to be disappointed. Indeed, Dobbie admitted that he ‘never approached
         the civil administration without meeting complete indifference or active opposition’. His plan for the Kota Tinggi line, so-called because it ran along a river and through a town of that name,
         was no exception. Thomas refused to co-operate. As he was leaving Singapore, Percival had a vivid recollection of Dobbie saying
         to him, ‘That man will break my heart.’20

      
      The General was made of stern stuff, however, and he wrote to the War Office, ‘I consider it imperative that such essential
         defences as can be created in peace must be done now. For this purpose I estimate £250,000 is required for immediate expenditure
         on work which will take at least 12 months to complete and which must be put in hand without delay.’21 The Whitehall mandarins deemed this excessive and slashed Dobbie’s budget from £250,000 to £60,000, but it was still enough
         to start work on a jungle clearance scheme and the building of a belt of machine-gun pillboxes across southern Johore.
      

      
      The military situation improved considerably in August 1939 when the 12th Indian Infantry Brigade Group, commanded by Brigadier
         A. C. M. Paris, arrived from India. This brigade consisted of the 2nd Battalion of the Argyll and Sutherland Highlanders,
         the 5/2nd Punjab Regiment and the 4/19th Hyderabad Regiment. The Argylls were known as ‘the Old 93rd’ after the 93rd Sutherland
         Highlanders who had distinguished themselves against the Russians at Balaclava. The Times war correspondent William Henry Russell, who witnessed their steadfastness in the face of a cavalry charge, described the
         Highlanders as ‘the thin red streak tipped with a line of steel’, soon condensed into ‘the Thin Red Line’.22

      
      The Argylls shared Gillman Barracks on Singapore Island with some old friends, the 2nd Battalion of the Loyal North Lancashire
         Regiment, while a new home was being built for them at Tyersall Park near the Botanic Gardens. At the end of September they
         became involved with the Kota Tinggi line when the 12th Brigade was placed in charge of a 25-mile strip from Endau to Mersing on the eastern Johore coastline.
      

      
      The Argylls had their doubts about the wisdom of defending a line of concrete pillboxes in jungle and rubber country. It was
         felt that the defenders could be outflanked and their supply lines cut, leaving them stranded behind enemy lines. General
         Dobbie, however, had retired as GOC after reaching the compulsory retirement age and his scheme was quickly abandoned, even
         though only £23,000 of the £60,000 budget had been spent.
      

      
      The pillboxes that had been constructed rapidly disappeared beneath a tangle of jungle vines and were soon forgotten. Just
         as the so-called ‘phoney war’ – the drôle de guerre – had begun in Europe, Singapore embarked on a two-year period of mismanagement which would seal her fate.
      

   
      
      
CHAPTER 3


      
      Bad Times

      
      THE DRIVING FORCE BEHIND the Argyll and Sutherland Highlanders was Major Ian Stewart, the battalion’s second-in-command. ‘He was a very slender man
         and in their pocky humour they called him “Busty” and would have followed him anywhere,’ one of his officers, Captain Kenneth
         I. McLeod, says.1 Stewart realised that Malaya Command had no idea of how to fight an enemy in the Malayan countryside. While the jungles presented
         difficulties of movement, the vast rubber plantations provided good fields of fire and the system of well-made roads was ideal
         for armoured and motorised transport.
      

      
      There were no instruction manuals relating to such diverse and contradictory conditions, and the only manual on tank warfare
         was sitting unread in a cupboard at Fort Canning. This failure to come to grips with the problem of defending Malaya stemmed
         from the fact that, according to one well-placed source, ‘the higher command was torn by internal squabbling about what was
         to happen, and about who was responsible for doing what’.2

      
      Most of the Argylls were young city men from the industrial heartlands of Scotland who had never set foot in the dense, tangled
         rainforest known as jungle. Stewart, in collaboration with Brigadier Archie Paris, decided that his battalion would undertake
         a rigorous programme of bush warfare training, irrespective of the climatic extremes. Word soon flashed around the officers’ mess at Fort Canning and the
         watering holes of Raffles Hotel and the Tanglin Club that Stewart was roughing it with his men in swamps and jungles. ‘He
         was regarded as completely barking,’ says Major-General David Thomson, the regiment’s former colonel, or ‘father’, ‘but he
         was a quite outstanding man. He was one of those completely unique and individual officers. He was not of a mould but very
         much his own man.’3

      
      While fortress troops were square-bashing and carrying out standard regimental drills, Stewart was developing a new type of
         fighting. When Brigadier Hugh Ellis raised the Tank Corps in France in World War I, his staff captain was Ian Stewart – a
         fact that had eluded the strait-laced minds at Malaya Command. General Thomson says, ‘Here was a man whose name was written
         into history as the colonel of flat-footed infantry but who actually had a wider background in all-arms warfare than anybody
         else.’
      

      
      The Argylls had been issued with 10 Bren-gun carriers soon after their arrival in Malaya and later took delivery of four Lanchester
         armoured cars and three Marmon-Herring-tons. The carriers were awkward, unstable vehicles, but each was armed with a Bren
         gun, a .303 Vickers machine gun and a .45 Thompson machine gun. The armoured cars had seen better days, but also had useful
         firepower. Built between 1925 and 1930, the Lanchesters were equipped with two Vickers machine guns and a .5 anti-tank machine
         gun, while the Marmons each had a Vickers machine gun and a .55 Boys anti-tank rifle.
      

      
      With his knowledge of tank warfare, Stewart created fast-moving, highly mobile ‘Tiger Patrols’, which could encircle enemy
         troops and drive them up against a roadblock, where the gunners in the armoured cars would cut them to pieces. The key to these aggressive tactics was to ‘hold the road in depth’ to frustrate enemy outflanking movements and drive the
         attackers back into the jungle or make them stand and fight.
      

      
      The more sedentary troops of Singapore Fortress looked askance at these unorthodox activities. They nicknamed the Argylls
         ‘the jungle beasts’ and speculated that Ian Stewart must be suffering from a touch of the sun. However, when Lieutenant-Colonel
         Hector Greenfield returned to Britain on 20 February 1940, Stewart was promoted to command the regiment.
      

      
      Ian MacAlister Stewart had been born in India on 17 October 1895, the son of a polo-playing medical officer in the Poona Horse.
         Educated at Cheltenham and Sandhurst, he passed out in December 1913 as the youngest officer in the British Army. As an 18-year-old
         platoon commander, he was the first British officer to land on French soil in World War I when he led an Argyll charge wielding
         a claymore ‘like his Jacobite ancestors’. He had fallen to the ground, apparently wounded, only to rise explaining that he
         had tripped over his scabbard. Stewart was awarded the Military Cross in 1915 and a Bar in 1917, and twice received a Mention
         in Dispatches.4

      
      Kenneth McLeod was 6 foot 3 inches tall, sparsely built and a tremendous golfer. He says that Stewart’s aim in Malaya was
         to build an outstanding fighting force ‘and reverse the foolish tactics employed by some officers and units in the First World
         War. Stewart had learned their faults by going over the top and fighting shoulder to shoulder with the troops. He saw how
         useless some officers were and how they caused many avoidable deaths. He thought an officer’s job was to train his men to
         kill the enemy but in so doing to ensure that they received as few casualties as possible themselves.
      

      
      ‘He was strong-willed and a great tactician but he was always prepared to discuss situations and listen to other options if
         any. He was not inclined to suffer fools gladly. When officers came out from the UK to bring the battalion to fighting strength,
         he would reject those that he did not think were sufficiently athletic and would find them jobs in other units. He was a great
         mixer with the men and got to know them and, through this, acquired their confidence. He ensured that his officers picked
         the best to be leaders as NCOs for the jobs they would have to undertake in facing the enemy. He had to train his men extremely
         hard, which was not always appreciated, but when it came to fronting the enemy they acknowledged the fact that all the rigorous
         jungle training had held them to good account. Ian Stewart became the battalion icon.’
      

      
      Stewart’s popularity with his men was not reciprocated at Fort Canning after he disproved one of Malaya Command’s pet theories
         – that the Kranji River in the north-west corner of Singapore Island was unfordable to troops. ‘Ian Stewart took one look
         at it and decided it was a worthless obstacle,’ says Captain David Wilson, second-in-command of one of the rifle companies.
         ‘But Malaya Command did not agree; none of them had even dipped their big toes in it. So one day we staged a battalion exercise,
         and got the whole lot across the horrid muddy affair.’5

      
      There was further friction when Stewart challenged the concept that Singapore could hold out for months until the fleet arrived.
         He had seen the Japanese in action in Shanghai and pointed out that Malaya Command had no idea what tactics they might employ.
         He was prevented from embellishing his comments by a brigadier who told him ‘to shut up and sit down, adding for good measure
         that everyone regarded his ideas as dangerous fanaticism’.6

      
      Desperately rearming to withstand an expected German onslaught across the Channel in the summer of 1940, Britain was stuck
         with the Singapore Strategy in the Far East. The ‘period before relief’ was extended from 70 to 180 days and authority was
         given for reserves of food and munitions to be built up accordingly. These matters were considered by the Singapore Defence
         Committee, which consisted of the three service chiefs and representatives of the civil administration, sitting under the
         chairmanship of the Governor. At General Dobbie’s suggestion, the Defence Secretary for the past year had been a senior civil
         servant, C. A. Vlieland.
      

      
      Charles Archibald Vlieland, an Oxford-educated man, had joined the Malayan Civil Service in 1914 at the age of 24. Rising
         through the ranks of the Secretariat, he had acquired an incomparable knowledge of the country and its problems. He had also
         acquired a nickname, ‘Starchy Archie’ – a dig at his rather superior manner and his habit of wearing a dinner jacket every
         night.
      

      
      Vlieland had travelled widely in Malaya, hunting game in forests and shooting over open countryside and around the coasts.
         He also had his own network of planters, miners, prospectors, foresters and game rangers reporting to him on any suspicious
         Japanese activities in their areas. From this intelligence, Vlieland learned that the Japanese had a habit of investing personnel
         at key strategic points, notably in the mining districts of Trengganu and Kelantan and along a line stretching across Johore
         from Kota Tinggi to rubber plantations at Batu Pahat on the west coast. He concluded after studying the military situation
         that Japan was likely to attack these areas and that it was imperative for Britain to defend the whole of the Malay peninsula
         rather than just Singapore Island; anything less than total commitment would mean forfeiting Malaya’s mineral wealth and losing the Naval Base into the bargain.
      

      
      According to Vlieland, he had been given ‘practically a free hand to pursue my aims’7 but he found himself on a collision course with Dobbie’s replacement, Major-General (Sir) Lionel Bond, who had taken over
         on 1 August 1939.Bond objected to a civilian’s having a big say in defence matters and, although he was an engineer like Dobbie,
         he had no intention of following his predecessor’s policy of having fixed defences in Johore and on the north coast of Singapore.
         At their first meeting, Bond curtly informed Vlieland that his orders were to defend Singapore Island and did not permit him
         to concern himself with the peninsula.8

      
      If this were so, Vlieland retorted, then the War Office had exceeded its powers by determining the defence policy of Malaya
         without reference to the Government. He was adamant that the Army should participate in his policy of extended defence and
         refused to alter his view. Even if the Japanese seized the Naval Base, Vlieland pointed out, they would not be able to use
         it if Britain still held the Malay peninsula.
      

      
      Vlieland was on friendly terms with the Royal Air Force commander, Air Vice-Marshal John Babington, who saw things with monochromatic
         clarity. As far as he was concerned, the Army’s primary function was to protect his forward airfields. When the Governor sided
         with Vlieland and Babington, Bond found himself outmanoeuvred and outvoted – but it made no difference: the Defence Committee
         had no executive powers to enforce its recommendations, all of which Bond cheerfully ignored.
      

      
      Babington, one of Britain’s first air force heroes, was known as a man with a stubborn streak. As a pilot, he had flown through
         heavy flak in November 1914 to bomb the Zeppelin airship sheds and factory at Friedrichshafen, leaving them a blazing ruin.9 From the outset, it was daggers drawn between Babington and Bond; the outbreak of World War II, which might have been expected
         to unite them in a common cause, did nothing to ameliorate the situation.
      

      
      One of the main points under discussion on the Defence Committee – renamed the War Committee after September 1939 – was Operation
         Matador, Britain’s plan for a preemptive strike against a Japanese invading force in Thailand. British strategists had known
         for years that it was essential to prevent the enemy from forming beachheads at the two most suitable landing places in southern
         Thailand: Singora and Patani on the Kra Isthmus. Operation Matador was designed to destroy the Japanese as they were going
         ashore at those points, but it required a co-operative effort between the Army and the Air Force. In the present climate of
         inter-service hostility, this was unlikely to be forthcoming. Relations between General Bond and Air Vice-Marshal Babington
         were so dire that it was no longer safe for Singapore’s hostesses to invite them to the same party. Vlieland says he found
         the whole thing ‘more than tiresome.’10

      
      Governor Thomas, meanwhile, was fighting a losing battle to protect Malaya from European war fever. One of his bugbears was
         the Malaya Tribune, an English-language newspaper owned by the Mayor of Singapore, Dr S. Q. Wong, holder of a Doctorate of Law from Harvard University
         and a millionaire several times over. He enjoyed annoying the Straits Times and had primed his editor Edwin ‘Jimmy’ Glover and his news editor George Hammonds to fight for the rights of the underdog
         against the colonial establishment. The Governor was particularly incensed by the paper’s ‘Buy a Bomber for Britain’ campaign,
         which urged readers to contribute to a fund for that purpose. Shenton Thomas thought that buying bombers was a matter for the authorities and no
         place for a meddling newspaper.
      

      
      After the Governor had made his opinions known, Jimmy Glover, a quick-witted Yorkshireman, published a story that ridiculed
         him for opposing the scheme. The article was illustrated by a cartoon showing the Governor snatching up dollars that were
         meant to feed a sickly donkey, representing Britain, and throwing them away. The headline was ‘Doubting Thomas’. Retribution
         was swift. Shenton Thomas discovered that the author of the story was Lorraine Stumm, a former Fleet Street journalist who
         was married to Flight Lieutenant Harley Stumm, an Australian-born RAF officer based at Seletar. He ordered her to leave the
         colony within 24 hours for ‘scandalous reporting’.
      

      
      The Governor’s diktat threw the young couple into a panic. Harley, a barrister in civilian life, examined the legal position
         and concluded that the Governor had absolute powers to expel anyone from the Crown Colony if he so wished. Lorraine, however,
         still had one card up her sleeve. She asked Jimmy Glover to arrange a meeting between her and the Governor. Thomas agreed
         to meet her but warned that nothing she could say would make him change his mind; indeed, he was looking forward to bawling
         her out.
      

      
      At Government House, Lorraine was ushered into a reception room in which a cheery fire blazed in the grate – an odd sight,
         she thought, in steamy Singapore. This room was air-conditioned; it appeared that the Governor was trying to simulate English
         climatic conditions. As soon as he walked in, however, the atmosphere turned frosty.
      

      
      ‘Was it my style of reporting that you objected to?’ Lorraine asked him.

      
      ‘Yes indeed it was,’ the Governor replied.

      
      ‘Well, sir,’ she said, ‘you possibly know that I worked in London. Your brother Cecil Thomas was my editor on the Daily Mirror and he and his staff taught me to write that way.’
      

      
      Thomas was nonplussed. The last thing he wanted was for it to become common knowledge in Singapore that his brother worked
         for a Fleet Street tabloid. He thought for a moment, then strode to the other end of the room. ‘Very well,’ he said. ‘This
         is a private matter between you and me. You may stay.’
      

      
      Harley and Lorraine lived in a rented flat on the waterfront at Kallang, with a ‘cook boy’ to do the household chores. These
         were happy times for them but, she says, ‘I was regarded with suspicion by some of the heads of the forces, particularly RAF
         Command.’ The powers-that-be were concerned that she might expose in the Tribune the Air Force’s state of unpreparedness. Harley had approached Air Vice-Marshal Babington to complain that he and the other
         pilots were not getting enough flying time, but they found little sympathy. Babington huffed that the ground staff couldn’t
         be expected to give up their siesta hour to get the planes into the air; furthermore, there were too few ground staff to service
         them after they had been flown. Lorraine was furious at Babington’s short-sightedness but she did not write the story, knowing
         it would rebound on her husband.
      

      
      The Air Force commander had reported to the Air Ministry in March 1940 that if the Army was unable to prevent Japanese landings,
         then the defence of Malaya, Thailand and Borneo would have to be left to the RAF and the Navy. As it could not safely be assumed
         that naval forces would be available for the Far East, such defence would inevitably fall to the Air Force. Babington added
         he had no doubts that ‘if the Japanese gained a foothold in Malaya, the fate of Singapore would be sealed’.11

      
      Not to be outdone, the following month General Bond submitted a new appreciation, in which he appeared to change his mind
         about forward defence. He said he considered that the northern frontier with Thailand might have to be held by a considerable
         force for several months provided he had an army in the order of 40 battalions, or four divisions, with three machine-gun
         battalions and two tank regiments. As it would be impossible for Britain to provide a force of such magnitude, he argued that
         the RAF ‘could and should be made absolutely responsible, if not for the detection and destruction of a Japanese expedition
         before it landed, at least for ensuring that no base can be maintained and no lines of communication can be operated within
         striking distance of our airfields’. Provided this was done, Bond said, the army requirement could be reduced to a more attainable
         25 battalions with supporting arms, including three anti-tank batteries and one company of armoured cars or tanks.
      

      
      These matters remained unresolved when Sir Shenton and Lady Thomas set off in April 1940 to take their leave in London. It
         was decided before he departed that the defence situation and the urgent need for reinforcements would be discussed by the
         Governor at the highest levels in Whitehall. Thomas was owed three months’ leave (although owing to travel difficulties both
         ways he was in fact away from Singapore for a total of eight months). In his absence, the Colonial Secretary, Stanley Jones,
         would take over the Governor’s responsibilities, including his chairmanship of the War Committee. On the day he sailed to
         England, Thomas told Archie Vlieland, ‘Remember, Vlieland, I rely on you to hold the fort while I am away and not to let Bond
         get away with it. Jones knows very little about the defence side, and you’ll have to keep him straight.’12

      
      Jones, however, upset the balance of power by siding with General Bond. ‘Jones had it all his own way, not only to the exasperation
         of the AOC (Air Officer Commanding) and myself, but to the bewilderment and perturbation of the general public in Malaya,’
         Vlieland wrote. ‘Most people thought I was responsible for, or at least party to, many of the strange things which were happening.’
         This included the building of defences along the southern coast of Singapore to repel a seaborne invasion, while nothing was done on the island’s exposed northern shore or in the
         Malay States.
      

      
      One of the newcomers to Singapore was Bernard Clifton, son of a former Chief Inspector of the Straits Settlements. Bernie
         had been born in Penang in April 1924 to Inspector Thomas Frederick Clifton and his wife Elsie. ‘My father and his brother
         both went into the Straits Settlements Police Force in 1919,’ he says. ‘Recruits joined up in Singapore and did their exams
         and then they were distributed all over the five colonies in Malaya. Each colony had its own police stations [which had] nothing
         to do with the Federated or Non-Federated States.
      

      
      ‘Then in 1940 he was offered the job of Government Censor – they wanted someone with experience to vet all the incoming mail
         from informers and so forth after the outbreak of the war. I went to St Andrew’s School, where the principal was an Australian,
         Mr Adams.13 I finished my education at Pitmans College in Tank Road and got a job at Wakefields, the oil people.’
      

      
      Another new arrival in 1940 was Brother Vincent, a teacher at the noviciate training centre off Bukit Timah Road north of
         Singapore City. Born Vincent Barbe to Catholic parents in a French farming community on the outskirts of Montreal, on New
         Year’s Day 1919, he had trained as a teacher in Montreal and joined the Brothers of St Gabriel, before completing his education at King’s College, London University.
      

      
      Brother Vincent had been in Singapore for only a few weeks when Germany launched her attack on the Low Countries and France
         in May 1940. Two of the order’s French brothers were called up by the French Army for service in Indochina, and Brother Vincent
         was transferred to Singapore to replace one of them at Holy Infants English School, Seran-goon. Four months later, Japanese
         troops occupied northern Indochina – with the connivance of France’s Vichy regime – to end the reinforcement of Chiang Kai-shek’s
         army via the route from Haiphong to Chungking, and to move its forces within striking distance of Thailand and Malaya.14

      
      One of the French brothers returned to Singapore with the news that the Japanese had occupied the whole of Indochina. They
         had soldiers, tanks, guns, an air force and a fleet and, he warned, ‘anything can happen from now on’. But the warning was
         not taken seriously among his colleagues, who believed that the Japanese were too far away and wouldn’t dare to challenge
         British supremacy. ‘We took it as a joke,’ Brother Vincent says.
      

      
      Meanwhile, the brawling on the War Committee had attracted the ire of Vice-Admiral Sir Geoffrey Layton, Commander-in-Chief
         China Fleet, who had moved to Singapore from Hong Kong and established his headquarters at the Naval Base. Layton was a gruff,
         57-year-old, bullet-headed seadog whose salty language belied a deep belief in the Anglican faith. He cabled the Admiralty
         about the dissension between Bond and Babington, and the First Sea Lord, Admiral Sir Dudley Pound, raised the matter at a
         Chiefs of Staff meeting in late June.
      

      
      On the available evidence the Chiefs of Staff concluded that the feud ‘was due more to the lack of resources than to questions of principle’. It was time to appoint a Commanderin-Chief Far East who would be senior to both Bond and Babington.15 This decision coincided with another, in August, that the fleet could no longer be sent to the Far East because of commitments
         in the Mediterranean, the Atlantic and home waters. As it would be up to the RAF to repel invaders in Malaya, it was agreed
         that the post of Commander-in-Chief Far East should go to an airman, the veteran Air Chief Marshal Sir Robert Brooke-Popham.
         The revised Singapore Strategy embraced the defence of the whole of Malaya, as Vlieland had advocated, and the Army’s role
         was spelled out as: (a) the close defence of the Naval Base and airfields; (b) internal security; and (c) to deal with any
         enemy land force that might succeed in gaining a foothold despite the action of the Air Force.
      

      
      In October, Admiral Layton presided over a Defence Conference at Singapore to discuss the vital issue of reinforcements. The
         local commanders estimated that the minimum number of aircraft required to defend Malaya and Burma was 582. The conference’s
         report was sent to London, where it was handed over to be assessed by the joint planning staff – who were still deliberating
         on their findings when the avuncular figure of Sir Robert Brooke-Popham arrived in Singapore to knock some sense into the
         recalcitrant Vlieland, Babington and Bond.
      

      
      Brooke-Popham had retired from the Air Force in 1937 and become Governor of Kenya, a post he held until he was appointed Commander-in-Chief
         Far East. According to his orders, he was responsible ‘for the operational control and direction of training of British land
         and air forces in Malaya, Burma and Hong Kong, and for the co-ordination of plans for the defence of these territories’. He
         was also ‘in charge of British air forces in Ceylon and reconnaissance squadrons in the Indian Ocean and Bay of Bengal’. However, he had no control over Admiral Layton or his naval forces.
      

      
      Brooke-Popham’s brief would have tested a man in the prime of life, but he was 62 years old and had not worn particularly
         well. When General Headquarters Far East opened at Singapore on 18 November 1940, he proved incapable of adapting to the operational
         and equatorial climates and found himself snoozing through many crucial meetings. Known to his staff as ‘Brookham’, he had
         been born Henry Robert Moore Brooke in 1878 and had added the ‘Popham’ by Royal Warrant in 1904 in honour of an admired relative.
         Educated at Haileybury and Sandhurst, he joined the Oxfordshire Light Infantry in 1898, then fought in the Boer War and was
         promoted to captain in 1904. Attached to the Air Battalion during manoeuvres of 1911, he learned to fly and gained British
         flying certificate No. 108 in July 1911.
      

      
      Brooke-Popham transferred from the Oxfordshire Light Infantry to the Royal Flying Corps the following year and remained in
         the RFC throughout World War I, rising from squadron commander to Deputy Quartermaster General. After the war, he became a
         key figure in the formation of the Royal Air Force as the first Commandant of both the RAF Staff College and the Imperial
         Defence College. He held a number of other impressive positions, including Air Officer Commanding, British Forces in Iraq
         (1928–30), Air Officer Commanding in Chief, Air Defence of Great Britain (1933–35) and Principal Air Aide de Camp to King
         George V (1933–37).
      

      
      Having been alerted to the schism on the War Committee, Brooke-Popham stayed awake for his first meeting with Vlieland and
         the others, and was appalled by what he witnessed. He wrote despairingly to Churchill’s Chief of Staff, General Hastings ‘Pug’
         Ismay, ‘that not only do they have no Agenda but that no Minutes are kept; individuals merely make notes on scraps of paper’.16

      
      Brooke-Popham went on the offensive soon after Shenton Thomas returned from leave in December. In London, the Governor had
         been grilled by the War Cabinet Subcommittee about the goings-on in Singapore. It had been made clear to him that both land
         and air reinforcements were in short supply and that all this bickering would have to cease. ‘Starchy Archie’ sensed trouble
         when Thomas avoided him for a week after his return and his calls to Government House went unanswered. At a meeting of the
         War Committee on 13 December, he discovered that the Governor had performed a complete volte-face. When Vlieland took up his
         usual position at the conference table at the Governor’s right hand, Thomas cut him dead and said to Brooke-Popham, ‘I think
         you have something to bring up, Sir Robert?’ This was Brooke-Popham’s cue to launch a full-blooded assault on Starchy Archie.
      

      
      ‘The C-in-C Land and Air then made a savage attack on me,’ he says. ‘It was, in effect, more of an attack on Sir Shenton’s
         previous regime than on myself. No one else said a word. Bond and Layton nodded their approval and my friend the AOC could
         not rally to my support in defiance of his Air Chief Marshal. Sir Shenton Thomas remained silent with head bowed.’ Vlieland
         realised he had lost the argument. ‘It stank of midnight oil and careful briefing by Bond and Layton, since it referred to
         matters before Brooke-Popham’s arrival in Singapore. I was accused of persistent refusal to take the army line.’17 Vlieland resigned the following day, and left the colony soon afterwards.18

      
      Meanwhile in London, the joint planners, having dissected the Defence Conference’s report, replied, in January 1941, ‘Both
         the Defence Conference and the commanders themselves appear to take too pessimistic a view and to overestimate the Japanese. Thus, even in their final estimate, when
         they propose a first-line of 566 aircraft [actually raised to 582 at the conference] to meet the Japanese total of 600 to
         700, some 500 of which are carrier-borne, they allege that they will still be “heavily outnumbered” and may have to scale
         up their estimate if Japanese forces increase. This appears to be entirely divorced from reality. The Japanese have never
         fought against a first-class Power in the air and we have no reason to believe that their operations would be any more effective
         than those of the Italians.’ The joint planners concluded that a first-line of 336 aircraft ‘should give us a reasonable degree
         of security’.19

      
      At the time of Brooke-Popham’s arrival in Singapore, the RAF had just 88 aircraft, of which only 24 Blenheim bombers and 24
         Hudsons could be counted as modern. The 24 Vilde-beeste torpedo bombers were straight out of the pages of Biggles books, and
         a squadron of 12 Wirraways from the Royal Australian Air Force could be used only for ‘general purpose’ duties. The remaining
         four aircraft were slow-moving flying boats.
      

      
      Nevertheless, new RAF airfields popped up like mushrooms on the east coast of Malaya and at Tengah and Sembawang on Singapore
         Island. The Army had not been consulted about the location of any of these airfields, yet it was expected to deploy troops
         to protect them all. According to Sir Lewis Heath, commander of the III Indian Corps, the plan forced upon Bond ‘a ridiculous
         degree of dispersion’.20

      
      However, the Army received a substantial injection of new blood on the strength of General Bond’s submissions. Two additional
         brigades – the 6th and 8th Indian Infantry of the 11th Indian Division, commanded by Major-General David Murray-Lyon – arrived
         from India, while two British battalions, the 2nd East Surreys and the 1st Seaforth Highlanders, were shipped in from Shanghai following the British evacuation
         of China. Major-General Frank Keith Simmons, commanding officer in Shanghai, became GOC Singapore Fortress in charge of the
         island’s fixed defences.
      

      
      Churchill, however, wrote to the Chiefs of Staff on 13 January 1941, ‘I do not remember to have given my approval to these
         large diversions of force. On the contrary, if my minutes are collected they will be seen to have an opposite tendency. The
         political situation in the Far East does not seem to require, and the strength of our Air Force by no means warrants, the
         maintenance of such large forces in the Far East at this time.’21

      
      The Chiefs of Staff placated their volatile leader with the news that it was planned to send only two squadrons of outmoded
         Brewster Buffalo fighters from the United States to Singapore which, at that time, had no fighter aircraft at all. Australia
         had been asking awkward questions about Far East defence, and the War Office’s greatest concern was that the Australian Government,
         under pressure from the Labour Opposition, would refuse to supply any more troops to the Middle East battlefields until it
         was satisfied that the island was adequately defended.
      

      
      The Australian Prime Minister was the Liberal Party leader (Sir) Robert Menzies, one of Churchill’s most ardent admirers.
         When Churchill replaced Chamberlain in May 1940, Menzies arranged a place for himself in the British War Cabinet. He was appalled
         to discover that Churchill had little interest in the Far East or the Japanese threat. The two men clashed heatedly on the
         subject and Menzies’s admiration of his hero turned to mistrust. Despite misgivings about Churchill’s attitude, Australia
         agreed to send a division of its own troops to Malaya.
      

      
      Menzies was still in London when Brooke-Popham flew down to Australia in February 1941 to pacify the Australian War Cabinet
         and its leading members, the new Prime Minister Arthur Fadden and the Labour Party Leader John Curtin. The Australians weren’t
         too sure what to make of their elderly visitor. He was a large, balding, unkempt man with a reddish moustache, a high-pitched
         voice and a giggling laugh. He lacked knowledge of all aspects of modern warfare, yet believed that the Japanese were so inferior
         to the British in their fighting qualities that Britain could hold her own against them, even with inadequate resources.22

      
      With a flourish, Brooke-Popham told the Australians that 67 Brewster Buffalo aircraft would be committed to the defence of
         Singapore. They would be flown by British pilots who were ‘considerably superior’ to their Japanese counter-parts.23 Furthermore, he maintained that Singapore could defend itself for six months, even nine months, giving a British battle fleet
         ample time to arrive and protect the island from Japanese invasion. Churchill had instructed him on his departure from London
         to ‘hold Singapore until capital ships could be sent’ and, he added, Churchill had promised, ‘We will not let Singapore fall.’
         For good measure, he also threw in the canard that a landward attack down the Malay peninsula was unlikely to occur because
         of the impenetrable terrain.
      

      
      This was dangerous nonsense, yet there is no indication in the minutes of the Australian War Cabinet meeting on 14 February
         1941 that Fadden, Curtin or anyone else challenged Brooke-Popham’s statements. No one pointed out that the Buffalo – also
         known as the Flying Beer Barrel because of its rotund shape – was an outdated aircraft which was taking no part in the European
         war because it had been superseded by faster, more efficient fighters. No one mentioned that the ‘Main Fleet to Singapore’
         strategy had already been abandoned, or that the myth about Malaya’s ‘impenetrable terrain’ had been successfully exploded as long ago as 1937.
      

      
      Brooke-Popham’s views on the Japanese were based on nothing more substantial than his own brief observations on the Hong Kong
         border and a deeply ingrained racial prejudice.24 ‘I had a good close-up, across the barbed wire, of various sub-human specimens dressed in dirty grey uniform, which [sic] I was informed were Japanese soldiers,’ he wrote in one letter to the War Office. ‘If these represent the average of the
         Japanese army, the problem of their food and accommodation would be simple, but I cannot believe they would form an intelligent
         fighting force.’25

      
      The Australians, however, came to respect Brooke-Popham’s opinions and his apparent concern for their well-being. He returned
         to Singapore well satisfied with his mission. He advised London that Australia had recommitted herself to the idea of imperial
         defence and would continue to provide troops for service in the Middle East. In a letter to General Ismay, Brooke-Popham related
         that he had not been impressed with the calibre of Australian politicians, although he had quite liked the Opposition Leader,
         John Curtin.26

      
      Brooke-Popham’s dismissal of Japan’s capabilities reflected an attitude common among RAF and Royal Navy officers, who believed
         that the Japanese were poor aviators and shipbuilders, ‘slow thinking, badly trained and unable to cope with crises. Ignorance
         and racial prejudice seem to have been the main causes of such inaccurate assessments.’27 The captain of the HMS Tamar concluded after observing the Japanese Navy in Hong Kong for two months that Japanese naval officers were ‘wooden-headed
         automatons’. He added that ‘the bogie of their superiority in battle has vanished and it appears improbable that they can
         rank as a first-class fighting power until they have learned how to properly educate their people’. The captain was apparently unaware that one of the legacies of the Meiji Restoration was that Japan
         enjoyed one of the highest literacy rates in the world.28

      
      Brooke-Popham’s main appeal to the Chiefs of Staff was his willingness to toe the Whitehall line. ‘It was pointed out to me
         that the requirements of Home Defence, the Battle of the Atlantic and the Middle East must take precedence over those of the
         Far East,’ he says. Later, he would be told that Russia must come first and, at another time, it was Iraq and Iran. He had
         no illusions about his lowly place in the War Office’s pecking order for pilots and aircraft. ‘It was obviously our duty to
         be content with the essential minimum,’ he said, ‘to consider what we could do without rather than what we would like to have,
         and to make the fullest use of local resources. But we always regarded the strength of 336 aeroplanes as an irreducible minimum.’
      

      
      The Commander-in-Chief Far East was well aware that he could not muster even half that number, yet he travelled several times
         to Malaya, Burma and Hong Kong and made two trips to Australia, three to Manila and five to the Dutch East Indies to convince
         the local commanders and administrators that their security was in safe hands. He increased his staff from seven to 15, but
         found that overwork and the enervating Malay climate took a heavy toll on his men. ‘The most serious case was that of my Chief
         of Staff, Major-General [Dicky] Dewing, who went to hospital on 8 April and remained there until he started for England in
         May,’ he says. ‘General Playfair arrived to take his place on 21 June, but for a period of some ten and a half weeks I was
         without a Chief of Staff.’29

      
      The loss of Dewing was a serious blow to the hardworking officers of the Far East Combined Intelligence Bureau, which continually
         warned GHQ about Japan’s military build-up. The bureau, located in large concrete buildings at the Naval Base under the control of the Admiralty, consisted
         of branches of naval, army and air force intelligence. Its director of military intelligence, Colonel Gordon E. Grimsdale,
         wrote to his friend, General Ismay, ‘I have always felt that one of the worst bits of bad luck was when Dicky Dewing had to
         be invalided home. He had an appallingly difficult job and a very patchy staff to help him. Yet he had the whole thing so
         well taped that if he had been able to carry on I am perfectly certain his presence would have made an immense difference.
         Directly he went the rest of GHQ staff never believed us and always called us “alarmist”.’30

      
      Brooke-Popham’s view was that the organisation was ‘somewhat unbalanced in that attention was mostly concentrated on Naval
         intelligence’. As the Japanese Army would be transported to Malaya’s shores in ships, this seemed a sensible preoccupation.
      

      
      The first contingent of the Australian Imperial Force – a total of 5,850 men – arrived in Singapore on 18 February 1941. ‘The
         Queen Mary was still being converted into a troopship and there were rocking horses in the children’s nursery and we had a first-class
         lounge,’ remembers Russell Savage, then a 20-year-old gunner. Sir Shenton Thomas, General Bond and a crowd of army and navy
         officers greeted the Australian troops when the Queen Mary moored at the Naval Dock. ‘There was a strike on when we got to Singapore and the skipper berthed her up against a solid
         concrete wharf without the assistance of tugs,’ Savage says. Some of the Australians, spotting an opportunity for a bit of
         horseplay, tossed coins to the distinguished reception committee. Thomas was not offended. After looking over the troops,
         he declared them ‘splendidly fit’.
      

      
      The Australian force comprised the headquarters and services of the 8th Division under Major-General Gordon Bennett, with the 22nd Australian Infantry Brigade Group. While the
         other ranks were taken off to Singapore Railway Station to entrain for the long, hot journey to their camps at Malacca and
         Port Dickson, some Australian officers were driven to Raffles Hotel for a drink and then taken on a sightseeing tour through
         Singapore’s crowded markets and wide boulevards, to the New World amusement park. John Wyett says, ‘We were horrified to see
         the city ablaze with life and everything going on as usual. The whole atmosphere was that Singapore could not fall – it was
         impossible.’31
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